FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/26/2019 4:40 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/27/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>97895-6</u> (COA No. 51098-7-II)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEREMIAH ALLEN TEAS,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sara S. Taboada Attorney for Appellant

Washington Appellate Project 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE5
D. ARGUMENT11
1. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' opinion unnecessarily deviates from RAP 2.5(a)(3) and presents important questions concerning the extent of the right to testify under article I, section 22.
a. <i>Emery</i> does not mandate that all unpreserved prosecutorial attacks on a defendant's constitutional rights be assessed under the "flagrant and ill-intentioned standard;" furthermore, application of this standard is inconsistent with RAP 2.5(a)(3).
b. Contrary to this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals' opinion takes a piecemeal rather than holistic approach to assess whether the misconduct that pervaded throughout Mr. Teas' trial warranted reversal
c. The Court of Appeals' opinion overlooks <i>Martin's</i> reasoning, which conveys that under article I, section 22, prosecutorial suggestions of tailoring are only appropriate during cross-examination, not during summation
2. The Court of Appeals' opinion raises important questions concerning the right to instruct a jury on one's theory of defense
3. The Court of Appeals' opinion raises important questions concerning the constitutionality of Washington's two strikes law
F CONCLUSION 26

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Washington Cases
In the Matter of the Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286
P.3d 673 (2012)
State v. A.M., Wn.2d, 448 P.3d 35 (2019) 14
State v. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018)
State v. Conklin, 79 Wn.2d 805, 489 P.2d 1130 (1971)
State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996)
State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)
State v. Flores, 114 Wn. App. 218, 56 P.3d 622 (2002)
State v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979)
State v. Griffin, 100 Wn.2d 417, 670 P.2d 265 (1983)
State v. Lamar, 180 Wn.2d 576, 327 P.3d 46 (2014)
State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 921 P.2d 473 (1996)
State v. Martin, 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011)passim
State v. Moreno, 132 Wn. App. 663, 132 P.3d 1137 (2006) 2, 13, 15
State v. Moretti, 193 Wn.2d 609, 446 P.3d 609 (2019)24
State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015)
State v. Stumpf, 64 Wn. App. 522, 827 P.2d 294 (1992)
State v. Swagerty, 60 Wn. App. 830, 810 P.2d 1 (1991)
State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)
State v. W.R., 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014)
State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 265 P.3d 191 (2011)
Statutes
RCW 9.94A.570
Treatises
Vincent Schiraldi et. al, Three Strikes and You're Out: An Examination of
the Impact of 3-Strikes Laws 10 years after their Enactment (Jan. 2003)
Court Delo
Court Rules RAP 13.4(b)(1) passim
` / ` /
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(3) passim
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
RAP 2.5(a)(3)
<b>United States Supreme Court Cases</b>
Portuondo v. Agard, 529 U.S. 61, 120 S. Ct. 1119, 146 L. Ed. 2d 47
(2000)

# A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS **DECISION**

Jeremiah Allen Teas, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of a published Court of Appeals decision affirming his conviction and sentence of life without the possibility of parole. A copy of the Court of Appeals' opinion<sup>1</sup> and the order denying Mr. Teas' motion for reconsideration<sup>2</sup> are attached to this petition.

### **B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. It is improper for a prosecutor to create an inference that a defendant is guilty based on his exercise of his constitutional rights. Mr. Teas testified at his own trial. In turn, during closing arguments, the prosecutor repeatedly created an inference that Mr. Teas' decision to testify was evidence of his guilt, claiming he only exercised his right to testify "because he saw the overwhelming evidence against him."

The Court of Appeals agreed the prosecutor's repeated attacks on Mr. Teas' right to testify were improper. However, it did not reverse, finding that because Mr. Teas did not object to the misconduct, it had to first employ the "flagrant and ill-intentioned standard" before assessing whether this error could be raised for the first time on appeal as a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. It is more difficult for a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appendix A. <sup>2</sup> Appendix B.

defendant to obtain relief under the "flagrant and ill-intentioned standard" because under this standard, a defendant not only has to demonstrate that the misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned, but also that no instruction could have cured the prosecutor's misconduct.

- (a) This Court has consistently applied a straightforward RAP 2.5(a)(3) manifest constitutional error analysis for numerous constitutional violations. Should this Court accept review because the Court of Appeals' imposition of an additional onerous threshold analysis is wholly incompatible with RAP 2.5(a)(3)? RAP 13.4(b)(3); RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- (b) In *State v. Moreno*, 132 Wn. App. 663, 132 P.3d 1137 (2006), the prosecutor created an impermissible inference that the defendant was guilty based on his exercise of his right to represent himself. The defendant did not object to the prosecutor's comments, but the defendant challenged the prosecutor's comments on appeal. Division One only conducted a RAP 2.5(a)(3) assessment to determine whether to reach the merits of the defendant's argument. Should this Court accept review because this Division Two opinion conflicts with Division One's opinion in *Moreno*? RAP 13.4(b)(2).
- (c) In *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), this Court held that prosecutorial comments diluting the State's burden of proof did not trigger a constitutional harmless error analysis. This is

because when a prosecutor dilutes his or her burden of proof, he or she is not attacking the defendant's direct exercise of his constitutional rights; rather, the prosecutor is instead, in essence, misstating the law. However, the Court of Appeals misunderstood *Emery* as necessitating a "flagrant and ill-intentioned" threshold analysis before conducting a RAP 2.5(a)(3) for all unpreserved prosecutorial comments that create an inference that the defendant is guilty based on his exercise of his constitutional rights.

Should this Court accept review because the Court of Appeals misinterpreted *Emery*? RAP 13.4(b)(1).

- (d) This Court has repeatedly held that claims of prosecutorial misconduct must be examined as a whole. In addition to the prosecutor repeatedly assailing Mr. Teas' credibility by creating an inference that Mr. Teas was guilty based on his exercise of his right to testify, the prosecutor also made an inappropriate comment regarding the tragic events of 9/11 in order to meet its burden. Should this Court reverse because the Court of Appeals' opinion neglects to examine the pervasive misconduct in this case as a whole? RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- (e) In *State v. Martin*, 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011), this Court held that under article I, section 22, it is appropriate for a prosecutor to suggest that the defendant tailored his testimony to conform

to the evidence presented at trial during cross-examination; however, this Court stated it is inappropriate for a prosecutor to suggest the defendant tailored his testimony during summation. During summation, the prosecutor argued Mr. Teas tailored his testimony. However, the Court of Appeals believed this was appropriate. Should this Court reverse because the Court of Appeals' opinion fails to follow this Court's ruling in *Martin*? RAP 13.4(b)(1); RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. In *State v. W.R.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014), this Court held the State, not the defendant, bears the burden of disproving consent when the defendant's defense to a rape charge is that the complainant consented to sex. However, in dicta, this Court asserted that courts need not instruct the jury on this defense.

At trial, both the State and Mr. Teas presented enough evidence to warrant a consent instruction. The trial court refused to issue the instruction. Relying on this Court's dicta in *W.R.*, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision, reasoning that because the State had to prove a lack of consent as part of its burden of proof, a consent instruction was unnecessary.

Both this Court's dicta and the Court of Appeals' reasoning is at odds with both the right to present a defense and other defense doctrines. For example, both diminished capacity and voluntary intoxication can

negate the mens rea element of many crimes, and yet this Court has stated that defendants that present evidence of these defenses are entitled to instructions consistent with these defenses. Should this Court accept review because *W.R.*'s dicta is incompatible with the right to present a defense and inconsistent with this Court's holdings regarding jury instructions for other defenses? RAP 13.4(b)(1); RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. This Court recently held that under article I, section 14 of our constitution, it is permissible to impose life without the possibility of parole pursuant to our state's three strikes law if one of the predicate offenses occurred when the defendant was a youth. Here, however, Mr. Teas was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole based on our state's two strikes law. Mr. Teas' first strike offense occurred when he was between the ages of 17 and 19. Should this Court accept review to determine whether article I, section 14 of our constitution allows the imposition of life without the possibility of parole for a two strike offense where one of the strikes occurred when the defendant was a youth? RAP 13.4(b)(3); RAP 13.4(b)(4).

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jeremiah Allen Teas was at work perusing Backpages.com under the "adult services" section when he clicked on the subcategory of "escort services." RP 646-48. After scrolling through this subcategory, he

stumbled upon an advertisement posted by a woman who claimed her name was "Miley." RP 646-47. The advertisement was for a "massage." Mr. Teas called the phone number listed in the advertisement and inquired with "Miley" about her services. RP 650. The two agreed to meet after Mr. Teas finished work. RP 650. Mr. Teas was hoping to receive a "happy ending." RP 673.

After leaving work, Mr. Teas arrived at "Miley's" apartment, where she directed Mr. Teas into her bedroom. RP 652, 654. The bedroom did not contain any massage tables. RP 654. Mr. Teas took off his shoes and "Miley" asked him to take off his pants, so he took off his belt and pulled his pants down to his mid-thigh. RP 657. He then took off "Miley's" pants. RP 657. Mr. Teas asked "Miley" if they could kiss or if she could perform oral sex on him, but she refused. RP 657. Upon "Miley's" request, Mr. Teas put on a condom; shortly afterwards, he attempted to have intercourse with her, but he could not become erect. RP 657-58.

"Miley" asked Mr. Teas several times if she could get him some lubrication or a penis pump to help him become erect. RP 659. Mr. Teas tried to get himself erect while he reached in his pocket to try and pull out some money. His pocketknife fell out. RP 659. "Miley" ran away,

screaming. RP 659-60. Confused, Mr. Teas grabbed his belongings and left the apartment. RP 663.

While walking down the street after leaving the apartment, he heard "Miley" yelling from a car, "I'm going to get you. I have your stuff." RP 661. "Miley" also yelled other obscene language at Mr. Teas. RP 661.

A few days later, the police arrested Mr. Teas. When the police interviewed him, Mr. Teas denied any encounter with "Miley" and instead said he was in the area of her apartment but only to visit a friend. RP 172. Mr. Teas later admitted to initially denying the encounter with "Miley" because he was ashamed and did not want his family to learn he was seeking escort services. RP 665-66.

The police arrested Mr. Teas because "Miley" (whose real name is not actually "Miley" and will be referred to in the rest of this brief by her true initials, "R.C.") reported that Mr. Teas raped her, and the State later charged Mr. Teas with rape in the first degree. CP 2, 5. R.C. told the police that as soon as Mr. Teas entered her apartment, he shoved her onto a bed, held a knife to her throat, and said he was going to rape her. CP 2. However, at trial, she told the jury that Mr. Teas jumped on her back "like he was trying to get a piggyback ride" and wielded a knife to her throat. RP 296. R.C. said she told Mr. Teas she would do whatever he wanted her

to do if he put his knife away. RP 298. According to R.C., when Mr. Teas put the knife in his pocket, she told him she was not going to "do this" with a knife in his pocket, so she instructed him to put the knife in his backpack, and he obliged. RP 298.

Though she previously said she would do "whatever [Mr. Teas] wanted [her] to do" in order to get Mr. Teas to put down the knife, R.C. testified she denied Mr. Teas' request to kiss or have her perform oral sex on him. RP 297-98. R.C. said Mr. Teas honored these requests. RP 298. She testified that she asked Mr. Teas put on a condom, and he also obliged this request. RP 298-99.

R.C claimed Mr. Teas had trouble getting an erection, but he nevertheless penetrated her for about two minutes. RP 299. Though she initially told the police Mr. Teas asked for some lubrication, she later testified that she was the one who actually proposed getting lubrication for Mr. Teas as a ruse to escape from the bedroom. RP 302. R.C. avowed that she and Mr. Teas struggled at the door before she ran out screaming for help from her roommate. RP 302. She claimed Mr. Teas had blood on his hand and left blood on her sheet and on her bra strap. RP 315. But everything that resembled blood from R.C.'s bedroom tested negative for Mr. Teas' DNA. RP 627-28.

During her testimony, R.C. maintained that although she posted under the "adult services" of Backpages.com under the subcategory of "escorts," she only delivered massage services. RP 325-25, 328. R.C. is not a licensed massage therapist. RP 326. R.C. has three prior theft convictions, which are all crimes of dishonesty. RP 321-22.

Mr. Teas testified at his trial. He also requested a jury instruction on consent, which the court refused. RP 687.

During closing argument, the prosecutor made several comments regarding Mr. Teas' decision to exercise his right to testify. First, the prosecutor explained that because Mr. Teas initially denied being in the apartment with R.C., the State had to obtain and present physical evidence to prove he was there. RP 745-46. Afterwards, the State described all of the evidence it presented at trial and commented,

So that's another reason why, ladies and gentlemen, *the defendant decided to testify. He saw the overwhelming evidence against him.* Couldn't deny the DNA. Could not deny the DNA.

RP 747 (emphasis added).

The prosecutor went on to describe the DNA found on the hat, the bedsheet, and R.C.'s left breast. RP 747-48. He then commented,

Again, the estimated probability of selecting an unrelated individual at random in the U.S. population with a matching [DNA] profile is 1 in 130 quintillion. These are things that the defendant cannot dispute, cannot rebut. *And so that's why he got on the stand yesterday and came -- came up* 

with a story to try and explain away what happened. And he wrapped up some of the things that have been proved to be true. For example, his presence there, because he can't deny that he wasn't there because he was. But he had to explain why and how and then deny that he was able to engage in sexual intercourse.

# RP 747-48 (emphases added).

The prosecutor also discussed 9/11 during his closing argument:

the way that [the pocketknife] was used, the manner in which it was used, the crime in which it was used in, constitutes a deadly weapon. Now, it is not a gun. It's not a firearm. It's not a pistol, a revolver, because those are, per se, deadly weapons. Okay? But the manner in which this instrument, this implement was used, with either blade, and the proximity to a person's neck, constitutes a deadly weapon. And we know that something like this has been used in the past. Okay? I'm not saying -- what I'm about to say, and I will preface this by saying this is not a terrorist act. This is not even close to 9/11. Okay? But we all know what was reported about the people who meant to harm on -- on those planes that crashed into the twin towers. What did they have? Box cutters. This, ladies and gentlemen, with this blade exposed, the manner in which it was used, is a deadly weapon.

### RP 735-36 (emphases added).

Furthermore, the prosecutor claimed R.C.'s version of what happened was always consistent, which was false. RP 725. The jury convicted Mr. Teas of rape in the first degree. CP 42.

Mr. Teas has a prior conviction for child molestation in the first degree. RP 789. This crime occurred between 1994 and 1996, when Mr. Teas was between the ages of 17 and 19 years old. Op. at 6. Based on this crime and the current conviction, the court had no choice but to impose

life without parole pursuant to the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA). RP 796-77. Mr. Teas appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction and sentence of life without the possibility of parole. Op. at 1.

## D. ARGUMENT

1. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' opinion unnecessarily deviates from RAP 2.5(a)(3) and presents important questions concerning the extent of the right to testify under article I, section 22.

The Court of Appeals grievously misapprehended *Emery*, the applicability of RAP 2.5(a)(3), and the extent of article I, section 22's protections of the right to testify. It also neglected to examine the pervasive misconduct that occurred throughout Mr. Teas' trial in the context of the entire record and the issues in his case. Accordingly, this Court should accept review.

a. <u>Emery</u> does not mandate that all unpreserved prosecutorial attacks on a defendant's constitutional rights be assessed under the "flagrant and ill-intentioned standard;" furthermore, application of this standard is inconsistent with RAP 2.5(a)(3).

Contrary to *Emery* and this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals employed the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" standard rather than the constitutional harmless error test to assess whether it should reverse due to the prosecutor's inappropriate attack on Mr. Teas' right to testify.

Op. at 8. Moreover, the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" standard is inconsistent with RAP 2.5(a)(3). Accordingly, this Court should accept review.

In *Emery*, the defendant asked this Court to employ the constitutional harmless error standard rather than the "flagrant and illintentioned" standard to assess whether a prosecutor's (unpreserved) improper comments that diluted the State's burden to prove its case warranted reversal. 174 Wn.2d at 756. This Court declined to do so, but it observed that it has "long held that the constitutional harmless error standard applies to *direct* constitutional claims involving prosecutors' improper arguments." *Id.* at 757. In doing so, this Court referenced *State v*. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996), which held it was improper both for a prosecutor to elicit testimony concerning a defendant's exercise of his pre-arrest silence and for the prosecutor to mention the defendant's pre-arrest silence during summation. *Id.* This Court also referenced *State* v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 396-97, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979), which held it was improper for a prosecutor to both elicit testimony concerning the defendant's exercise of his right to post-arrest silence and to mention the defendant's exercise of his post-arrest silence during the State's case-inchief.

This Court's reference to these two cases indicate that it has *always* applied the constitutional harmless error standard when a prosecutor *directly* attacks the defendant's exercise of his constitutional rights. While a prosecutor's arguments diluting its burden of proof may touch upon the defendant's right to have the State meet its case beyond a reasonable doubt, it does not constitute a *direct* attack on a defendant's constitutional rights. *See Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 763. This is because the defendant has not *himself* exercised his right when the prosecutor dilutes its burden of proof; rather, the prosecutor is *misstating* its burden of proof, which is tantamount to a misstatement of the law.

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