FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/27/2020 4:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97895-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JEREMIAH ALLEN TEAS, Petitioner

#### FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.16-1-02097-6

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL A. ROGERS, WSBA #37878 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (564) 397-2261

# **

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

#### **ARGUMENT AS TO WHY PETITION SHOULD BE DISMISSED**

Teas has failed to show any basis under RAP 13.4 that provides for review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b) provides the bases under which this Court will accept review of a decision terminating review. Those bases include 1) that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; 2) that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; 3) that the issues involve a significant question of law under the U.S. and/or Washington State constitutions; and 4) that the issues involved are of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Teas alleges every basis under RAP 13.4(b) is present in this case. On the contrary, none of the bases listed under RAP 13.4(b) indicate that review should be granted in this case. Accordingly, this Court should not grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

#### I. There is no basis for review of the Court of Appeals' application of the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" prosecutorial misconduct standard of review.

Teas argues this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals misapprehended *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) and therefore its decision is in conflict with precedent from this Court. Teas also argues the Court of Appeals improperly took a piecemeal approach to its analysis of Teas' prosecutorial misconduct claims and the Court of Appeals improperly applied the holding in *State v. Martin*, 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011). The Court of Appeals properly considered Teas' prosecutorial misconduct claims, applying the correct legal standard, and reasonably concluded any misconduct was not prejudicial. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals opinion does not merit review by this Court. Teas claims the Court of Appeals erred in applying the "flagrant and ill-intentioned" standard of review to Teas' prosecutorial misconduct claims instead of the constitutional harmless error standard. As Teas raised the issue as prosecutorial misconduct in his briefing to the Court of Appeals, the Court of Appeals properly considered the issue as one of prosecutorial misconduct and properly applied the "flagrant and illintentioned" standard.

In *Emery*, *supra*, this Court addressed the defendant's request for the Court to consider a prosecutorial misconduct claim under the constitutional harmless error standard. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 756-57. There, the defendant alleged the prosecutor improperly made a "truth statement" and misstated the burden of proof, infringing on his constitutional rights. *Id*. This Court noted that it had already declined to apply the constitutional harmless error standard in prosecutorial misconduct cases when a prosecutor makes a truth statement and misstates the burden of proof. *Id*. at 756 (citing to *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26 n. 3, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)). This Court also did not apply the constitutional harmless error standard when the prosecutor misstated the law by misstating the standard upon which the jury could find the defendant had actual knowledge in *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 373-74, 341 P.3d 268 (2015). The constitutional harmless error standard has been

rarely applied to prosecutorial misconduct claims, and only in circumstances wherein the prosecutor directly commented on the defendant's right to remain silent and to a prosecutor's injection of improper racial biases into the trial. *See State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 808 n. 24, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), *overruled on other grounds, State v. W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d 959, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014); *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242-43, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). Whereas other, more regular prosecutorial misconduct claim, those involving "trial irregularities" that do not independently violate a defendant's constitutional rights, are analyzed under the usual prosecutorial misconduct standard of review. *See State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 761 n. 1, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984).

The prosecutorial misconduct standard of review determines whether a defendant's right to a fair trial was violated. The Court of Appeals appropriately applied that standard of review to Teas' claims. The prosecutor did not comment directly on Teas' right to remain silent, or his exercise of his right to remain silent as seen in prior case law wherein the constitutional harmless error analysis has applied. The prosecutor here also did not inject racial bias, or otherwise directly comment on Teas' constitutional rights. The Court of Appeals appropriately applied the

"flagrant and ill-intentioned" standard to Teas' unpreserved prosecutorial misconduct claims.

The Court of Appeals also appropriately considered each claim of prosecutorial misconduct Teas alleged, considering it both individually, and then cumulatively under Teas' cumulative error claim. The Court of Appeals did not improperly consider the arguments under a "piecemeal" approach.

The Court of Appeals also did not overlook the reasoning in *State v*. *Martin*, 171 Wn.2d 521, 252 P.3d 872 (2011) in considering Teas' tailoring prosecutorial misconduct claim. *Martin* does not categorically prohibit a prosecutor from arguing a defendant tailored his testimony unless that argument was preceded by cross-examination of the defendant on the subject. In *Martin*, this Court expressly declined to address general tailoring arguments. *Martin*, 171 Wn.2d at 536 n. 8. In *State v. Berube*, 171 Wn.App. 103, 286 P.3d 402 (2012), *review denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1002 (2013), Division I of the Court of Appeals noted that the evil addressed by *Martin* was "a closing argument that burdens the exercise of constitutional rights without an evidentiary basis and in a fashion preventing the defendant from meaningful response." *Berube*, 171 Wn.App. at 116-17. However, "[w]hen tailoring is alleged based on the defendant's testimony on direct examination, the argument is a logical attack on the defendant's

credibility and does not burden the right to attend or testify." *Id.* at 117. There is no requirement that a prosecutor raise the issue on crossexamination in order to make a credibility argument in closing. *Id.* Thus the prosecutor in *Berube* did not commit misconduct when he argued that the defendant testified to "make his version of events conform with" what he had heard another witness testify to. *Id.* 

In Teas' case, the prosecutor based his argument off the defendant's own testimony because the defendant's testimony differed so substantially at trial from the statements he made to police. An argument that Teas tailored his testimony to fit into the State's evidence was a reasonable inference from the evidence. This argument did not unduly burden Teas' exercise of his constitutional right to testify and it did not offend *Martin, supra*. There is no basis to review the Court of Appeals' decision on this issue under RAP 13.4.

# II. The Court of Appeals did not err in holding no consent instruction was necessary

Teas argues the Court of Appeals erred in its decision finding that no jury instruction on the definition of consent was necessary and that the State met its burden of proof of disproving consent by proving forcible compulsion beyond a reasonable doubt. Teas appears to argue this decision is in conflict with Supreme Court precedent and review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and that it involves a significant question of law under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Teas argues the Court of Appeals improperly relied on dicta from *State v. W.R.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014). Teas further argues that this Court should treat a consent defense more like other defenses such as diminished capacity or voluntary intoxication and should give a consent instruction whenever the defense has presented evidence of consent. However, the Court of Appeals' reliance on *W.R.* was appropriate and given the facts of this case, a consent instruction was not necessary for the jury to be fully informed of the law and for Teas to be able to argue his theory of the case.

Consent is an affirmative defense to rape as it negates the element of forcible compulsion. *State v. W.R.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 763, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014). The State has the burden of proving forcible compulsion beyond a reasonable doubt in a charge of rape by forcible compulsion. *See id.* If the State proves forcible compulsion, it has necessarily disproved consent. The "State's burden to prove forcible compulsion encompasses the concept of nonconsent." *Id.* at 767. No additional jury instructions are necessary to adequately instruct the jury on the State's burden of proving forcible compulsion and thus disproving consent. "Because the focus is on forcible compulsion, jury instructions need only require the State to prove the elements of the crime. It is not necessary to add a new instruction on

consent simply because evidence of consent is produced." Id. at 767 n. 3.

As Division I of this Court noted in the unpublished case of *State v*.

Stanley, 200 Wn.App. 1058 (Div. I, 2017) (unpublished),<sup>1</sup> even if the

defendant produces enough evidence to put consent in issue, "the supreme

court cautioned ... '[i]t is not necessary to add a new instruction on

consent." Stanley, slip. op. at 2 (quoting W.R., 181 Wn.2d at 767 n.3). In

addition, the comment to WPIC 40.05, the definition of consent, the

Washington Pattern Instruction Committee indicated that,

An instruction on consent is generally not appropriate in prosecutions for first or second degree rape. To prove first degree rape, or second degree rape under RCW 9A.44.050(1)(a), the State must prove that sexual intercourse occurred by forcible compulsion. In the overwhelming majority of cases, the focus should be on forcible compulsion rather than consent. Except in unusual cases, an instruction on consent may confuse the jurors about the burden of proof, without providing them meaningful guidance. In *State v. W.R., Jr.,* 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014), the Supreme Court held that although the victim's alleged consent to sexual intercourse negated the 'forcible compulsion' element of second-degree rape, a separate instruction on consent is not needed 'simply because evidence of consent is produced.'

WPIC 40.05, cmt (quoting *W.R.*, 181 Wn.2d at 767 n. 3). Therefore, no

consent instruction is needed even if the defendant has sufficiently put

evidence of consent into the record at trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> GR 14.1 allows for citation to unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals issued on or after March 1, 2013. These opinions are not binding on this Court and may be given as much persuasive value as this Court chooses.

Even if this Court finds the Court of Appeals erred in finding the trial court did not need to give an instruction on consent, any error was harmless; even if the jury had been given the instruction Teas requested, the same result would have been reached. A constitutional error is harmless if it appears "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." Neder v. U.S., 527 U.S. 1, 15, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1996) (quoting Chapman v. Cal., 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)). At trial, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the sexual intercourse was achieved by forcible compulsion. As discussed above, proving forcible compulsion necessarily disproves consent. W.R., 181 Wn.2d at 767. "There can be no forcible compulsion when the victim consents, as there is no resistance to overcome. Nor is there actual fear of death, physical injury, or kidnapping when the victim consents." W.R., 181 Wn.2d at 765. The jury found Teas used forcible compulsion to accomplish sexual intercourse with the victim; therefore the jury necessarily found the victim did not consent to the sexual intercourse. The instruction, as confirmed by this Court in W.R., supra, was unnecessary, and the instructions given to the jury in this case accurately identified the elements of the crime of rape in the first degree, and properly put the entire burden of proving the elements on the State. CP 25, 35. The

instructions did not shift any burden to the defendant. And despite Teas' argument, the jury would not have been able to find the defendant used "physical force which overc[a]me[] resistance," or "a threat, express or implied, that place[d] [the victim] in fear of death or physical injury to herself [] or another person, or in fear that she [] would be kidnapped," if they had a reasonable doubt as to whether the victim consented to the act. *See* RCW 9A.44.010(6). Instead, the jury clearly weighed the evidence and determined the credibility of the witnesses, and did not believe the defendant's version of events.

In *State v. Buzzell*, 148 Wn.App. 592, 200 P.3d 287 (2009) Division I of the Court of Appeals found that while the trial court's refusal to give a consent instruction at the defendant's request was erroneous, that error was harmless. *Buzzell*, 148 Wn.App. at 601. The Court noted that even without the consent instruction, the defendant was able to argue consent as his theory of the case. *Id.* The case turned on which testimony the jury believed: the victim's or the defendant's. *Id.* The court found that since the defendant testified that the sexual contact was consensual, the jury could not have accepted his testimony and still returned a guilty verdict. *Id.* Thus the error was harmless. *Id.* 

As in *Buzzell*, the jury necessarily rejected the Teas' version of events by finding him guilty of rape. By finding the State proved every

element of the crime of rape in the first degree, the jury necessarily found the victim did not consent. Any potential error the trial court committed in not giving an instruction on consent was harmless.

The Court of Appeals' holding in this case does not conflict with *W.R., supra*, nor does it conflict with any other case law from the Court of Appeals. This Court clarified this issue in *W.R., supra*, and there is no need for additional clarification through this case; accordingly, this is not an issue of substantial public interest, nor is there a remaining significant question of law to be resolved. There is no basis for this Court to grant review of this issue and accordingly Teas' petition should be denied as to this issue.

# III. This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' decision that the trial court properly sentenced Teas as a persistent offender.

Teas argues this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision affirming Teas' sentence as a persistent offender because Teas committed his first strike offense during a time period that included time when Teas was ages 17 to 19 years old. As Teas committed the predicate offense as an adult, including at the ages of 18 and 19, this decision does not raise doubts on the constitutionality of imposing a life sentence when one of the predicate strike offenses occurred when the defendant was a youth as Teas alleges. There is no basis for this Court to grant review.

Teas entered a guilty plea to Child Molestation in the First Degree in his prior case, admitting that he committed the offense between a date range that included 7 months when Teas was 17 years old, and time when Teas was 18 years old and 19 years old.

When a person enters a guilty plea, that person admits to the conduct occurring on the date range included in the plea statement. In *In re Crabtree*, 141 Wn.2d 577, 9 P.3d 814 (2000), the defendant entered a guilty plea to Rape of a Child in the First Degree, Child Molestation in the First Degree, and Statutory Rape in the First Degree, that occurred between June 1, 1988 and August 31, 1988. *Crabtree*, 141 Wash.2d at 580. The Supreme Court found Crabtree admitted he committed the offense after the effective date of the statute by virtue of his plea:

...in Crabtree's guilty plea statement he admitted he committed rape of a child and child molestation between June 1, 1988 and August 31, 1988. This constituted an admission of criminal acts between July 1 and August 31. Crabtree was convicted and sentenced for crimes he admitted occurred after the effective date of the statute."

*Id.* at 585. Similarly, from Teas' judgment and sentence, we can see he entered a plea to a crime that occurred on a date range, thus constituting an admission of that criminal act on all the dates included in the date range. *See* CP 97-98. Teas admitted this act occurred over a time period. By doing so, he therefore admitted this occurred between February 6, 1995

and September 2, 1996, after he turned 18 years old. Teas admitted to sufficient facts to sustain a finding that he committed the crime as an adult.

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